IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. 89,962

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE
ATTORNEY GENERAL
RE: REQUIREMENT FOR ADEQUATE
PUBLIC EDUCATION FUNDING

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE COALITION TO RECLAIM EDUCATION'S SHARE IN SUPPORT OF THE INITIATIVE

Jon Mills Timothy McLendon Post Office Box 2099 Gainesville, Florida 32602 (352) 378-4154 William Sundberg Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell 106 E. College Avenue Suite 700 Post Office Box 10507 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-2507 (904) 222-6550

Attorneys for Proponents

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Pursuant to Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution, the Coalition to Reclaim Education's Share, a political committee registered with the state under Section 106.03, Florida Statutes (1995), has proposed an initiative amendment to the Florida Constitution for placement on the ballot for the general election to be held in November, 1998. The proposed amendment appears in the initiative petition as follows:

The ballot title of the proposed amendment is "Requirement for Adequate Public Education Funding."

The ballot summary of the initiative reads:

SUMMARY: Adequate provision for fundingpublic education each fiscal year requires appropriation of at least a minimum percentage of total appropriations under Article III, not including lottery or federal funds. That minimum percentage (40%) is based upon education's percentage of appropriations, excluding federal funds, for 1986-87 before state lotteries began. May be suspended in any fiscal year by a bill adopted by 2/3 vote of each legislative house. Effective following third fiscal year after approval.

The Requirement for Adequate Public Education Funding initiative seeks to amend Article IX, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, by adding an "(a)" before the existing text, and by adding a new subsection (b) to read as follows:

"(b) Adequate provision for funding public education shall be required in each fiscal year, and is defined as the appropriation of at least a minimum percentage (40%) for public education from the total appropriations under Article III in each fiscal year, not including lottery proceeds or federal funds. That minimum percentage (40%) is based upon the percentage appropriated for public education from total appropriations in fiscal year 1986-87, not including federal funds and prior to the appropriation of funds from Florida lotteries proceeds.

- (1) The Legislature may suspend the applicability of this subsection for any one fiscal year, or a portion of one fiscal year, by passage of a separate bill that contains no other subject in which the Legislature finds a compelling public necessity to suspend this subsection. Passage of that bill shall require a vote of approval of two-thirds of the membership of each house.
- (2) Upon approval by the electors, this subsection shall take effect immediately following three full fiscal years."

Having received certification from the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 15.21, Florida Statutes (1993), and under the authority of Article IV, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution and Section 16.061, Florida Statutes (1993), the Attorney General petitioned this Court for an advisory opinion as to whether the initiative petition complied with Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution and Section 101.161, Florida Statutes (1993). This Court accordingly issued an interlocutory order on March 3, 1997, providing that interested parties should file briefs and setting a date for oral arguments. This brief is submitted on behalf of the Coalition to Reclaim Education's Share, the sponsor of the Requirement for Adequate Public Education Funding initiative.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Requirement for Adequate Public Education Funding Initiative complies with both the single subject test and the summary/ballot title constraints of Section 101.161, Florida Statutes. Simply put, this initiative attempts to implement a historical funding level as a minimum for funding education in the future. The initiative is a logical extension of the preexisting constitutional right to an adequate education which has been described by the Court as "a fundamental right for the citizens of Florida under our Florida Constitution." Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc. v. Chiles, 680 So.2d 400, 410 (Fla. 1996) (Overton, J., concurring).

This initiative does not violate the **single subject** requirements and, thus, is in compliance with Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution. The proposal **asks a** single and easily understood question: Should the state fund education at **a** minimum of 40% of appropriations? The addition of a 40% minimum appropriation for education has only an incremental effect and does not substantially affect multiple functions of government. The minimal impact is accentuated by the following background:

- 1) The historical prominence of education in the Florida Constitution.
- 2) The specific language of Article IX in the Florida Constitution.
- This Court's opinion in <u>Coalition for Adeuuacv and</u>

 <u>Fairness in School Funding, Inc. v. Chiles</u>, 680 So. 2d

400 (Fla. 1996), which indicated that there is already some minimal requirement for adequacy under Article IX.

4) The historical level of education funding by the State which has been well over 40% of appropriations.

This initiative minimizes the impact on state government. There is a phase-in period over three fiscal years in the proposed amendment which allows state government to adapt to an amendment that becomes effective following the third fiscal year after approval. Further, this proposal even has a suspension clause in case of a state emergency.

Significantly, any impact on programs or functions is only hypothetical. Whether there is any impact at all is totally within the discretion of the Legislature. Certainly, the Legislature may choose to fund other programs at the same level or revenue may This Court has held that "possible impacts" based on grow. "premature speculation" will not defeat an initiative. Advisory Opinion to the Attornev General re Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71, Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re 74 (Fla. 1994). Funding for Criminal Justice, 639 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1994). The Education Funding proposal certainly has a less significant impact on functions of government than the Criminal Justice Funding initiative or the Everglades Sugar Fee initiative, both of which were approved by this Court.

The Criminal Justice Funding initiative required additional taxes, required additional expenditures, created a trust fund and set out purposes for which funds raised could be spent. This

initiative creates no trust fund, requires no new taxation, and sets out no definition of purposes for which education funds are to be spent. It merely requires a minimal percentage be appropriated for education. The Everglades Sugar Fee initiative imposed a fee and designated purposes for which funds raised could be spent. This initiative imposes no tax or fee - that function remains within the Legislature's discretion.

The Requirement for Adequate Public Education Funding initiative does not violate the ballot summary and title requirements set out in Section 101.161, Florida Statutes. The summary and ballot title are "accurate and informative" while at the same time "objective and free from political rhetoric". See Smith v. American Airlines, 606 So. 2d 618, 621 (Fla. 1992) and Advisory Opinion to the Attornev General re Tax Limitation, 644 So. 2d 486, 490 (Fla. 1994). The information is complete, unambiguous, and imparted in a neutral, unemotional manner.

Accordingly, this Court should uphold the constitutionality of the Requirement for Adequate Public Education Funding initiative.

ARGUMENT

I. THE EDUCATION **FUNDING** INITIATIVE PRESENTS A SINGLE, UNIFIED, AND EASILY UNDERSTOOD ISSUE TO THE VOTERS: SHOULD THE STATE FUND EDUCATION AT A MINIMUM OF 40% OF APPROPRIATIONS?

The Educational Funding proposal has a single dominant theme and a unity of purpose. That purpose is to define a minimal adequate level of education funding. The only goal is to secure a minimum share of the state's budget for education funding. One question alone is presented: Whether to require a minimum designated funding percentage for education? Voters are not required to accept something unpalatable or unrelated to get what they desire if they wish to vote for this amendment. Every aspect of the proposal directly relates to defining this minimum percentage.

In an advisory opinion proceeding under Article IV, Section 10, this Court must resolve two questions. First, whether the initiative "embrace [s] but one subject and matter directly connected therewith," in compliance with Article XI, Section 3. Second, whether the ballot summary and title of the initiative are legally sufficient under Section 101.161, Florida Statutes. See In re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1019 (Fla. 1994). This Court has repeatedly stated that it will not "address the wisdom or merit" of a proposed initiative amendment during advisory opinion proceedings. Fine v. Firestone, 448 So. 2d 984, 992 (Fla. 1984).

Article XI, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution reserves to the people the right to amend or revise their constitution through popular initiative, "provided that, any such revision or amendment, except for those limiting the power of government to raise revenue, shall embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith." The proposed Requirement for Adequate Education Funding amendment seeks, as its sole subject, to define adequacy under Article IX, Section 1, for funding purposes as the appropriation of a minimal percentage of the state budget to public education. This minimal percentage is the single subject of the amendment, and every part of the proposed amendment is "matter directly connected therewith." Fla. Const. Art. XI, § 3.

The "single subject test is functional, not locational." In Re Advisory Opinion to the Attornev General re Tax Limitation (Tax Limitation I), 644 So. 2d 486, 490 (Fla. 1994). The essence of the single subject requirement of Article XI, Section 3, thus means that an initiative amendment may not perform or substantially affect multiple, distinct governmental functions. In re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d 1336, 1340 (Fla. 1994); Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018; Evans v. Firestone, 457 So. 2d 1351, 1354 (Fla. 1984)); Fine, 448 So. 2d at 990.

Other factors to be considered include whether an amendment will cause substantial impact on other sections of the constitution. <u>Tax Limitation I</u>, 644 So. 2d at 490; <u>Fine</u>, 448 So. 2d at 989-90 (noting that it is important to identify sections

substantially affected); but see Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Fee on the Everslades Susar Production, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1128 (Fla. 1996) ("the possibility that an amendment might interact with other parts of the Florida Constitution is not sufficient reason to invalidate the proposed amendment"). Overall unity and coherence, or whether an amendment exhibits a "logical and natural oneness of purpose" are also factors. Fine, 448 So. 2d at 990. This Court has explained the standard as being whether a proposal has "a natural relation and connection as component parts of a single dominant plan or scheme. Unity of object and plan is the universal test." Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Florida Locally Approved Gaming, 656 So. 2d 1259, 1263 (Fla. 1995) (quoting City of Coral Gables v. Grav, 19 So. 2d 318, 320 (Fla. 1944)).

The Education Funding proposal meets each of the factors of this Court's single subject analysis. In defining "adequacy" for purposes of education funding, the amendment performs a single function. Only one branch of government, the legislative, is affected by this proposal. The proposal has no impact beyond the setting of a parameter within which the Legislature must operate. Any possible impacts on other governmental functions or sections of the constitution can only be hypothetical, for this amendment does not make any taxing or spending decisions-1 The Legislature,

^{&#}x27;There are no multiple disguised, collateral effects of the sort mentioned by Justice Kogan in <u>Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination</u>, or Justice McDonald in <u>Fine</u>. <u>See Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination</u>, 632 So. 2d at 1022 n.6 (Kogan, J., concurring); <u>Fine</u>, 448 So. 2d at 995 (McDonald, J., concurring),

though affected by the initiative, retains its prerogatives, has continuing discretion to raise taxes or not, to freeze spending, or even to refine or alter the definition of education. In no way does this amendment predetermine what the Legislature will do with respect to other functions of Florida government.

With the Education Funding amendment, there can be no question of "cataclysmic" or "precipitous" change in Florida's governmental structure. See Fee on the Everglades Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d at 1127; Save Our Everslades, 636 So. 2d at 1339. First, the parameter set by this initiative is well within levels historically appropriated for public education in Florida. Second, the changes brought by this proposal will not be precipitous, but measured and incremental, for a three year phase-in provision will cushion the transition, and, in the event of an emergency, a special override provision will insulate Florida's governmental structure from "cataclysm."

The initiative complies with both the letter and spirit of this Court's interpretation of Article XI, Section 3. It offers to the voters a single issue: Whether to require at least 40% of total appropriations for public education. The proposal is limited to that one function. Here there is no "log-rolling" and no voter

Any impacts from this amendment can only result from a decision by the Legislature in the budget process, There are thus no immediate, but only hypothetical effects to be expected from the Education Funding proposal, and these effects are dependent on the legislative process.

² The charts attached to this Brief as Appendix A reflect the historic levels of funding education in Florida from 1978.

will be forced to accept something unpalatable to get another desired change. See Tax Limitation I, 644 so. 2d at 490; Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So. 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 1978). Those who believe education should receive this traditional level of funding will vote for the proposal, while those who think otherwise will vote against it.

A. BECAUSE OF THE HISTORICAL PROMINENCE OF EDUCATION IN THE CONSTITUTION, THE SPECIFIC LANGUAGE OF ARTICLE IX AND THE OPINION OF THIS COURT IN Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc. v. Chiles, THE ADDITION OF A 40% MINIMUM APPROPRIATION FOR EDUCATION PURPOSES HAS ONLY AN INCREMENTAL EFFECT AND DOES NOT SUBSTANTIALLY AFFECT MULTIPLE FUNCTIONS OF STATE GOVERNMENT

Education has always had a special role in Florida, one which reflects the traditional importance of education to Americans generally.³ It has been honored with its own separate article in every one of Florida's six constitutions.* In the 1868 constitution, it was the "paramount duty of the State to make ample provision for education." Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc. v. Chiles, 680 So. 2d 400, 405 (Fla. 1996). While this wording was modified, education remains a unique function in the Florida Constitution. The obligation of the state

³Justice Overton includes several quotes on the importance of education to democracy in his concurrence in <u>Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc. v. Chiles.</u> 680 so. 2d 400, 408-10 (Fla. 1996) (Overton, J., concurring). To this list we might add the statement of De Tocqueville that "[i]t cannot be doubted that in the United States the instruction of the people powerfully contributes to support the democratic republic." Alexis de Tocqueville, Democracy in America 279 (J.P. Mayer & Max Lerner, eds. & George Lawrence, trans., Harper & Row, 1966) (1835).

 $^{^4}$ See Fla. Const. of 1838, art. XI Fla. Const. of 1861, art. X; Fla. Const. of 1865, art. X; Fla. Const. of 1868, art. VIII; Fla. Const. of 1885, art. XII; Fla. Const. of 1968, art. IX.

is defined in a qualitative way in the text of the Constitution. The system must be adequate, which is not a hollow term. See Coalition for Adequacy, 680 so. 2d at 408-409 (Overton, J., concurring).

1. The Education Funding Proposal Provides a Logical Extension Of The Definition Of Adequacy In Article IX of The Constitution

In a recent case, Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc. v. Chiles, this Court confronted the issue of education funding. Id. In that case, although rejecting the invitation to declare existing funding levels unconstitutional, indication that the court would find funding there is an unconstitutional at some level that would result in an inadequate educational system. The instant proposal clarifies and specifies the meaning of adequacy, at least with regard to funding criteria. It is, therefore, a logical extension of the opinion in Coalition For Adequacy. This proposal avoids the necessity for adequacy to be defined by overall deterioration of education to a level that would be defined as "inadequate". The fact that the existing constitution may have a funding benchmark, albeit at an unspecified level, means the Education Funding proposal merely specifies and alters **a** standard which already exists.

In <u>Coalition for Adequacy</u>, this Court heard a challenge by a group of students, parents and school boards against state officials, both executive and legislative, alleging that the State failed to make "adequate provision" for a "uniform system of free public schools," as required by Article IX, Section 1. <u>Coalition</u>

for Adequacy, 680 so. 2d 400 (Fla. 1996). This Court upheld dismissal of the suit by the trial court, finding that the term "adequate provision" has no legal definition, nor is any guidance supplied by the text of the Constitution, and finding that the coalition sought to define adequacy only in terms of funding levels. <u>Id</u>. at 406 (distinguishing "adequacy" from "uniformity," This Court, a term that has manageable and definable standards), in Coalition For Adequacy, accepted the State's arguments that what the coalition wanted "is for the trial court to order the This means that the appropriation of more money for education. judiciary would be intruding into the legislative power of appropriations." Id. at 407. The Court rejected an argument that the coalition only sought a declaration that current levels were inadequate, agreeing with the trial court that "if the Court were to declare present funding levels 'inadequate,' presumably the Plaintiffs would expect the Court to evaluate, and either affirm or set aside, future appropriations decisions . . . " Id.

This Court, in <u>Coalition For Adequacy</u>, also accepted the State's argument that the issue of adequate schools involved a **non**-judiciable, political question. <u>Id</u>. at 408. The Court cited the six criteria from <u>Baker v. Carr.</u> 369 U.S. 186, 82 S. Ct. 691, 7 L.Ed.2d 663 (1962) used to decide if a case involves a political question:

(1) a textually demonstrable commitment of the issue to a coordinate political department; (2) a lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving it; (3) the impossibility of deciding without an initial policy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion; (4) the impossibility of a court 's undertaking independent resolution without expressing a lack of respect due coordinate branches of government; (5) an unusual need for unquestioning adherence to a political decision already made; and lastly (6) the potentiality of embarrassment from multifarious pronouncements by various departments on one question.

Id. (citing <u>Baker v. Carr</u>, 369 U.S. at 209). This Court agreed with the State that the first two of the above-listed criteria had been met, i.e. that "adequacy" was a policy matter committed to the Legislature, and that there were no judicially manageable standards to measure adequacy. <u>Coalition for Adequacy</u>, 680 So. 2d at 408.

Significantly, though this Court declined to find current funding levels unconstitutional, the position of the majority of the Court was that, at some undefined point, the levels could be found unconstitutional. Justice Overton, in his concurrence, suggested that a showing of a 30% illiteracy rate in a county would amount to a violation of the current language of Article IX, Section 1. <u>Id</u>. at 409 (Overton, J., concurring). Justices Anstead, Kogan and Shaw indicated their agreement with this statement in their dissent. <u>Id</u>. at 410 (Anstead, J., dissenting).

The proposed amendment supplies the answer to the non-judiciable, political question concerning the minimal levels of funding for public education as "adequate" under Article IX. As a matter of policy, the instant amendment sets the minimum percentage at the fiscal year 1986-87 funding level, a level that is well

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