IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

CASE NO. 89,962

RE: REQUIREMENT FOR ADEQUATE PUBLIC EDUCATION FUNDING

ANSWER BRIEF OF CITIZENS FOR BUDGET FAIRNESS IN OPPOSITION TO INITIATIVE PETITION

ORIGINAL PROCEEDING

BARRY RICHARD
GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN,
LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL
101 East College Avenue
Post Office Drawer 1838
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 222-6891

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I

The Coalition argues that the proposed amendment would affect only the Legislature, and that it would have no impact upon the Legislature beyond setting a parameter within which the Legislature must operate. In fact, it is the nature of that parameter which substantially alters multiple functions of government, as described in detail in Citizens' Initial Brief. The Coalition's assertion that the proposal merely sets a base level for funding is incorrect. It sets a quota, which is defined as a proportional share. It is the proportional nature of the mandate which makes it inherently multi-functional. A proportional mandate automatically affects multiple functions by see-sawing every expenditure for the mandated purpose against every other expenditure. The fact that the minimum percentage is within historic levels is irrelevant to the alteration of functions. Whether or not the Legislature or other affected agencies choose to exercise their discretion is irrelevant to the fact that such discretion has been significantly altered.

The Coalition argues that any impact upon multiple government functions is hypothetical because the Legislature can choose to fund in the same proportions. The same argument could have been made with respect to the proposed amendments in *Tax* Limitation, Laws Related *to Discrimination*, and *Fine* v. Firestone, all cases in which this Court declared the provisions invalid as

having multiple subjects. The issue in those cases was the alteration of the affected agencies' power to exercise functions, not whether they might to choose to exercise them. The *Limited Casinos* case, cited by the Coalition, is not a analogous because the examples mentioned in that case were truly speculative.

The Funding for Criminal Justice and Fee on Everglades Sugar Production cases are distinguishable from the case at bar because the proposed amendments in those cases did affect only one Legislative function, and affected no other agencies. In addition, neither of those cases imposed a proportional restriction in which the earmarked amount was permanently leveraged against all other uses,

II

The use of the term "adequate" in the title is not only dispensable, but inappropriate. The Coalition itself states that the subject of the proposed amendment is "the appropriation of a minimal percentage of the state budget to public education." There is a significant difference between a requirement for "adequate funding" and a requirement for a specific minimum percentage. The title indicates that the only thing required by the proposed amendment is adequate funding. In addition to being inaccurate, the title incorrectly implies that the Constitution does not currently require adequate funding.

The title actually states the sponsors' objective evaluation of the amendment's effect rather than its actual effect. This is the type of "political rhetoric" that the Court has denounced.

The first two sentences of the ballot summary are misleading, and the third sentence is a completely inaccurate reflection of the amendment's actual effect on a material matter,

The first two sentences of the summary are worded **so as to appear to be** statements of current law, which they are not. There is nothing in the summary to alert the voter to the fact that they are actually statements of what the proposed amendment would do.

The statement in the second sentence that the 40% figure is based upon education's share before state lotteries began is not a description of the amendment's effect, but of the sponsor's political motivation. In addition to being prohibited political rhetoric, inclusion of a statement proporting to be based upon extrinsic fact should not be permitted in a ballot summary since there is no forum in which to verify its accuracy.

The third sentence in the summary states that the 40% mandate may be suspended by the Legislature by a 2/3 vote of each house of the Legislature. The actual text of the amendment requires approval by 2/3 of the *membership* of each house. The Constitution defines a vote of a house of the Legislature as a percentage of those casting votes, and a vote of the membership as being a vote of all members of the body. Consequently, the ballot summary tells the voter that the 40% mandate can be lifted by half the number of votes in each house as is actually required by the proposed amendment. This discrepancy alone is sufficient to invalidate the initiative petition.

ARGUMENT

I

THE PETITION VIOLATES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT LIMITATION OF ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The Coalition argues that its purpose is to define adequacy of educational funding as a minimal percentage of the state budget, and that this is the single subject of the amendment. The assertion does little to assist in the evaluation of the single-subject requirement of Article VI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution. It is possible to craft a "single subject" broad enough to encompass almost every initiative proposal, as can be illustrated with each of the proposals that have been declared in violation of the single-subject restriction.1 If Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution required no more than the articulation of a broad enough phrase to encompass all of the provisions of a proposed amendment, it would have little meaning.

This Court has emphasized more than once that "enfolding disparate subjects within the cloak of a broad generality does not satisfy the single-subject requirement," *Adviso y Opinion to the Attorney General* — *Restricts Laws Related to*

Leg., Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Tax Limitation, 644 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1994) [voter approval of constitutional revenue measures]; [voter approval of new taxes]; Adviso y Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Property Rights, 644 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1994). [right to full compensation for government caused property damage]; In Re: Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Save our Everglades, 636 So, 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994) [requiring sugar industry to fund Everglades restoration]; In Re: Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018 (Fla. 1994) [prohibiting laws granting rights to homosexuals]; Evans v. Firestone, 457 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984) [limitations on plaintiffs' rights in civil actions]; Fine v. Firestone, 448 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1984) [revenue raising limitation]

Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. 1994); Evans v. Firestone, 457 So. 2d 1351, 1353. Instead, the Court has announced specific criteria for determining whether or not a proposed amendment meets the single-subject test. The parties are in agreement that an essential element of that criteria is whether the amendment substantially affects a function of more than one branch of government, multiple functions of a single branch, or a function performed by multiple levels of government. See Coalition Initial Brief, p.15. It is with respect to the application of this criteria that the parties are in dispute.

In its Initial Brief, Citizens cited specific multiple functions of government upon which the proposed amendment has an immediate and substantial impact. Included were multiple functions of the Legislature, the veto function of the Governor, the independence and prerogatives of the Board of Education, the functions of virtually every other state agency that is dependent upon legislative appropriations, and the financing functions of local government. The Coalition counters that the amendment would affect only the Legislature, and that it would have no impact upon the Legislature beyond setting a parameter within which the Legislature must operate. In fact, it is the nature of that parameter which substantially alters multiple functions of government.

The Coalition argues that the proposal merely sets a base level for funding and that this level is within levels historically appropriated for public education in the state. The amendment does far more than merely set a base level. It sets a quota. (A quota is defined as "a proportional share." Webster's Third New

International Dictionary [1983]. It is the proportional nature of the mandate which gives it an inherently multi-functional effect. As noted in Citizens' Initial Brief, the Legislature currently has almost unlimited appropriations discretion. Just last year, this Court noted that, "the legislature has been vested with enormous discretion by the Florida Constitution to determine what provision to make for an adequate and uniform system of free public schools." Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding v. Chiles, 680 So. 2d 400, 408 (Fla. 1996). The proposed amendment would impose a major limitation upon that discretion. The Legislature's power to allocate funds among purposes of its choice would be limited to a little more than half of all state expenditures. The limitation would alter such discretion with respect to a number of separate legislative functions discussed in Citizens' Initial Brief. In addition, because the amendment would place the Legislature in a strict *proportional* straight jacket, it would necessarily and permanently affect the functions of every other agency which relies upon Legislative appropriations.

It may be that even a base dollar level would be found to have a multifunctional impact if the amount were large enough, However, the Court need not address that question in this case because a proportional share necessarily has a multi-functional effect at any level. If the Constitution simply mandated that a minimum dollar amount be earmarked for a particular purpose, the Legislature could fund the amount with a new tax and perhaps not affect other agencies or functions. A proportional mandate, however, automatically affects multiple functions by see-sawing every expenditure for the mandated purpose against every other expenditure. Even if a new revenue source were established, 40% of every new dollar spent from such source would have to go to education.

The fact that the minimum percentage is within historic levels is irrelevant to the alteration of *functions*. The Legislature currently has the power to make unrestricted changes in the proportion of appropriations allocated to educational and non-educational purposes. While the appropriation to education might be in the 40% range one year, the Legislature has the discretion to reduce it to lower percentages in future years based upon its judgment of relative need and available funds. The proposed amendment would change that drastically. The Legislature would be mandated to appropriate 40% of all appropriations to education every year even if there is a significant reduction in funding needs for education and a concurrent increase in other needs. The Governor's veto discretion, discussed in Citizens Initial Brief, is similarly altered.

The provision allows the Legislature to suspend its applicability on a year-by-year basis upon a finding of "compelling public necessity" to do so. There is no guideline as to what would qualify as a compelling public necessity, but the proviso does nothing to mitigate the impact upon various legislative functions. Whatever its meaning, it surely doesn't mean the Legislature can disregard the provision simply because it perceives the relative needs of the state to have changed, or there would be no need for the amendment. Furthermore, the

suspension requires a two-thirds vote of the entire membership of both houses which itself would be a substantial alteration of functions.

The Coalition argues that any suggested impact upon multiple governmental functions is purely hypothetical because the Legislature can choose to fund in the same proportions. In support of the argument, the Coalition cites Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1994). The *Limited Casinos* case is not analogous. The examples mentioned in that case were truly hypothetical. They would come to pass only with the occurrence of uncertain future events, and even then were only speculative. For example, it was argued that the amendment "might cut off a judicial remedy for those citizens whose property might be adversely affected," and similar possibilities. *Id.* at 73. The impact of the current amendment, on the other hand, would not be remote and speculative. It would strike immediately and profoundly at the most significant discretionary functions of the Legislature and Governor and the funding prerogatives of both educational and noneducational agencies.

Based upon the Coalition's reasoning, the effects of the amendments invalidated in *Tax Limitation, supra, Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, supra,* and *Fine v. Firestone, supra,* were also hypothetical. In *Tax Limitation* the Court stated:

This initiative not only substantially alters the functions of the executive and legislative branches of state government, it also has a very distinct and substantial affect on each local governmental

entity. The ability to enact zoning laws, to require development plans, to have comprehensive plans for a community, to have uniform ingress and egress along major thoroughfares, to protect the public from diseased animals or diseased plants, to control and manage water rights, and to control or manage storm-water drainage and flood waters, all would be substantially affected by this provision.

Id. at 494. Just as the Legislature could choose to keep funding proportions at the same levels after an enactment of the current amendment, the governmental agencies referred to by the Court above could have chosen not to have exercised any of the functions discussed. Nevertheless, the Court declared the proposed amendment in the above case invalid due to multiple subjects. The decision was based upon the reduction of the governmental agencies' discretion to exercise their then existing functions. Similarly, the affected functions in Laws Related to Discrimination could have been said to be hypothetical since governmental units might never have chosen to exercise the restricted functions, and in Fine v. Firestone the governmental bodies could have chosen not to raise revenue above the caps. Again, however, the issue in those cases, as in the case at bar, was the alteration of the affected agencies' power to exercise those functions.

The Coalition compares the petition in the case at bar to those in *Adviso y*Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Funding for Criminal Justice, 639 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1994) and *Adviso y Opinion to the Attorney General — Fee on Everglades Sugar*Production, 681 So. 2d 1124 (Fla. 1996). The Coalition contends that the provision in Funding for Criminal Justice mandated the raising of taxes, established a trust

fund, and required that funds be spent in excess of the current levels. This, they contend, had wider impact than the current provision.

As noted in Citizens' Initial Brief, the *Funding for* Criminal *Justice* provision did not actually mandate the raising of taxes or require any increase in the expenditure of funds. It authorized the Legislature to tax "up to one percent" "as provided by law." The trust fund was made "subject to appropriation by the legislature." Thus, while the amendment created a trust fund, it left discretion entirely with the Legislature to tax or not tax, and to fund or not fund the trust as the Legislature deemed appropriate. In addition, the provision did not affect appropriation to any other agencies because, to the extent that the Legislature did choose to appropriate funds into the trust, such funds would be derived from a new revenue source.

The provision in Fee on Everglades Sugar Production imposed a new tax on raw sugar earmarked for a specific use. It only affected one legislative function, the discretionary use of the revenue created by the new tax, and it affected no other agency since, like *Funding for Criminal* Justice, a new funding source was created.

Most importantly, neither of the above two proposals, nor any other previously reviewed by this Court, imposed a proportional restriction in which the earmarked amount was permanently leveraged against all other uses.

This Court has noted that of the four methods for amending the Florida Constitution, legislative, revision commission, constitutional convention, and initiative petition, only the petition method is restricted to a single-subject. One of the reasons, the Court stated, is that on an initiative petition unlike the three deliberative bodies, there is no opportunity for public input and debate in the drafting of a proposal. *Fine v. Firestone*, supra; *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney Genera2* — *Save Our Everglades*, 636 So. 2d 1336 (1994). Unlike the three deliberative bodies, the voter about to cast a ballot on a petition amendment does not have the opportunity to consider all of the ramifications of a proposal's effect on multiple government functions, or the long term implications of enacting such a proposal,

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